RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **05-10-2019**

IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP1977 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

ALEXANDER M. SCHULTZ,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District III, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction entered in the Circuit Court for Lincoln County, The Honorable Robert R. Russell, presiding

BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER ALEXANDER M. SCHULTZ

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631 490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

I.

III. Statement of issues presented for review.

This appeal presents the following issues for review:

First, when determining whether two offenses charged in successive prosecutions are the same in fact, for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause, may a court determine the scope of jeopardy in the first prosecution based upon testimony which was adduced at trial?

Second, if there should be any ambiguity in the timeframe of a charging document, for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause, who should bear the burden resulting from the ambiguity, the defendant or the State?

The circuit court and Court of Appeals both found that it was appropriate to consult the evidence that was adduced at trial in order to define the timeframe of the first prosecution, and then determined that no reasonable person familiar with facts and circumstances of Schultz's first prosecution would have understood "the early fall" to encompass October 19, 2012.

IV. Statement on oral argument and publication.

Given the tens of thousands of cases interpreting the Double Jeopardy Clause, it is somewhat surprising how few cases there are which provide guidance as to how you are to determine whether two offenses charged in successive prosecutions are the same in fact. As the Court of Appeals acknowledges, there appear to be no Wisconsin cases which directly answer this question. (Opinion, ¶ 18; Appx. 7). This is novel case, and one of first impression in the State of Wisconsin. *Id.* It involves a real and significant question concerning the Double Jeopardy Clause. How do you determine whether two successive prosecutions are identical in fact? This Court's decision should be published. This Court would also benefit from oral argument.

V. Statement of Case and Facts.

A. Introduction.

Alexander M. Schultz was prosecuted for the crime of second-degree sexual assault of a child, M.T.,¹ after having previously been acquitted by a jury of the crime of repeated sexual assault for the same child.² In the first prosecution the State alleged a timeframe of "the late summer to early fall of 2012". (R.90:1; Appx. 31). In the second prosecution the State alleged as its timeframe, "on or about October 19, 2012." (R.30:1; Appx. 43).

The first day of fall in 2012 was September 22nd, and the last day of fall in 2012 was December 21st. Thus, the fall season in 2012 lasted for ninety-one days, and October 19th landed upon the twenty-seventh day of the fall, firmly in the first third of the season, that is to say, in the "early fall." Accordingly, trial counsel for Schultz filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds that the court lacked jurisdiction over the defendant because the second prosecution of Schultz violated his rights guaranteed by the Double Jeopardy Clauses of 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. (R.5).

The State conceded that the offenses charged against Schultz were identical in law, given that the offense of second-degree sexual assault of a child is a lesser-included offense of repeated sexual assault of a child. (Opinion ¶ 16; Appx. 6). The only question was whether the two prosecutions were identical in fact; specifically, whether the timeframe of the first prosecution, that of "the late summer to early fall of 2012," included the date of the sexual assault alleged in the second prosecution, namely, "on or about October 19, 2012." (Opinion ¶ 16; Appx. 6).

¹ in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2).

² in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.025.

B. Proceedings below and jurisdiction.

On June 27, 2016, Alexander M. Schultz entered a plea of guilty to, and was convicted of, one count of second-degree sexual assault of a child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2); and one count of perjury, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.31(1)(a). (R.39 and R.100:13; Appx. 16-18). Both counts carried a habitual criminality enhancer pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b). *Id.* Schultz's plea followed his unsuccessful motion to dismiss the sexual assault charge on the grounds that the prosecution violated the Double Jeopardy Clauses of 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution.³ (R.96 and R.5; Appx. 19-27).

On September 6, 2016, the Lincoln County circuit court, the Honorable Robert R. Russell presiding, sentenced Schultz to four years in state prison for the perjury count, with two years of initial incarceration to be followed by two years of extended supervision. (R.39:1 and R.101:14-15; Appx. 19). For the seconddegree sexual assault of a child count, Schultz was sentenced ten years in state prison, with five years of initial incarceration to be followed by five years of extended supervision. *Id.* Each sentence was made concurrent with the other count, but consecutive to any other sentence Schultz was currently serving. *Id.*

Schultz timely filed his notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief. (R.41). Thereafter, he filed a motion for post-conviction relief, and again requested the circuit court vacate his conviction for second-degree sexual assault of a child on the grounds that the conviction was violative of the Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions. (R.55). An order was entered on September 26, 2017, denying Schultz his requested relief. (R.60; Appx. 28). Schultz then filed his notice of appeal. (R.61).

³ Trial counsel did not seek dismissal of the perjury count on grounds of collateral estoppel, and Schultz has not raised the issue on post-conviction. *See, State v. Canon*, 2001 WI 11, ¶¶ 22–23, 241 Wis. 2d 164, 180–81, 622 N.W.2d 270, 277, *aff* [']g 230 Wis. 2d 512, 523, 602 N.W.2d 316, 321 (Ct. App. 1999).

On December 11, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment and order of the circuit court. (Opinion; Appx. 1-15). Thereafter, Schultz file a petition for review, which this Court granted on April 9, 2019. This is an appeal from a final judgment and sentence of a circuit court in a criminal case, as well as the denial of a post-conviction motion filed under Wis. Stat. § 809.30. This court has jurisdiction under Wis. Const. art. VII § 3; and Wis. Stat. §§ 808.10 and 809.62.

C. Facts of the case.

On September 22, 2012, at 2:49 p.m., in an annual event known as the Fall Equinox, the Sun crossed the celestial equator and headed southward, marking the end of summer, and the beginning of the fall season. The fall season would last for a period of ninety-one days, until December 21st at 11:12 a.m., when the Sun reached its lowest maximum daily elevation for the year. That day would be the shortest day of the year, and its night the longest. This event, known as the Winter Solstice, marked the end of the fall season, and the beginning of winter.

In the late fall, it came to the attention of the City of Merrill Police Department, that M.T., a child of fifteen years of age, was pregnant with child. (R.10:3-5; Appx. 47-49). An investigation was launched to ascertain who was having sexual intercourse with M.T. during the late summer or early fall of 2012, such that she could conceive a child. *Id.* That investigation ultimately identified Alexander M. Schultz as being one of the persons who was having sexual intercourse with M.T. during this period of time. *Id.* A criminal complaint was filed on April 5, 2013, and the case was assigned the number 13CF110. (R.93:1; Appx. 32). Schultz was charged with the crime of repeated sexual assault of the same child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(e). *Id.* As a timeframe for the commission of this crime, the complaint alleged that Schultz "in the late summer to early fall of 2012 ... did commit repeated sexual assaults involving the same child, [M.T.] where at least three of the assaults were violations of sec. 948.02(1)

or (2) Wis. Stats." *Id.* The Information in Schulz's first prosecution, mirrored the allegations of the criminal complaint, and again alleged a timeframe of "the late summer to early fall of 2012." (R.90:1; Appx. 31).

Attached to the criminal complaint were police reports by Officer Matthew Waid of the Merrill Police Department. (R.93:3-10; Appx. 34-41). In one of those reports Officer Waid related an interview with a suspect, one Dominic Beckman, conducted on December 4, 2012. ⁴ (R.93:3; Appx. 34). In that interview Beckman admitted to having sexual intercourse with M.T. in "early to mid-October." *Id.* After this interview he wrote that:

I then made phone contact with [M.T]. at approximately 8:03pm. I asked her if she had had sexual intercourse with anyone prior to the incident and she said yes. She said that she had sexual intercourse with Alex Schulz approximately one month before she had sexual intercourse with Dominic. She informed me that this was consensual sexual intercourse that occurred at [M.T].'s residence. She said that Alex Schulz did not use a condom and that he did not ejaculate during the sexual intercourse. She said that she has not had sexual intercourse with anyone between Dominic and today's date. She also said that she had her period between the time she had sexual intercourse with Alex and the time she had sexual intercourse with Dominic. I then ended the phone conversation with [M.T.].

Id.

In her December 4, 2012, interview with Officer Waid, the victim M.T. alleged only one instance of sexual intercourse with Schultz. *Id.* However, when Officer Waid interviewed M.T. again on January 17, 2013, she claimed there were other instances, "more than five," where she had sexual intercourse with Schultz in the year 2012. (R.93:5; Appx. 36). M.T. did not give any specific dates for these other sexual assaults, and she gave no end date for her sexual relations with Schultz during this interview, nor in a third interview held on January 27, 2013. (R.93:5 and 8; Appx. 36 and 39).

⁴ We are left only with Officer Waid's recounting on the interviews. Recordings of the interviews with M.T. and Beckman on December 4, 2012 were not preserved. (R.85; R.67:206).

Lincoln County case number 13CF110 was brought to a jury trial on January 21, 2014, which would last for two days. (R.67 and R.69). After jury selection, but prior to the jury being sworn, the trial court heard a number of motions from the parties, including a defense motion to introduce evidence of M.T.'s pregnancy. (R.67:57 and R.76:1; Appx. 54). The State responded with a request for a continuance on the grounds that more time was needed for fully consider Schultz's *Pulizzano⁵* motion. (R.67:74-75; Appx. 71-72).

During the motion hearing, the State remarked that "Dominic Beckman [has been] imputed the father of the victim's child, [and] that's been in the reports for months...." (R.67:60; Appx. 57). But as to whether Beckman was indeed the father of the child, there was apparently some uncertainty amongst the parties, as DNA samples had been sought from both Beckman and Schultz. (R.67:86; Appx. 83). Further, when the Court requested the State consult with the victim's family for their views concerning a continuance, the victim and her mother both indicated that M.T. favored a continuance so that the paternity testing could be completed on both Beckman and Schultz prior to going forward with the trial. (R.67:81-82; Appx. 78-79). While the State expressed skepticism that the testing would show that Schultz was the father of the child, the victim and her mother were clearly uncertain as to whether it was Schultz or Beckman who was the actual father. (R.67:82 and 85-88; Appx. 79 and 82-85). As later events would show, that uncertainty was justified. Ultimately, Schultz indicated that he preferred to go forward with the trial and withdrew his *Pulizzano* motion. (R.67:89; Appx. 86).

After the pre-trial motions had been resolved, the jury was sworn. (R.67:110). The timeframe read to the jury was as follows:

The Information that has been filed in this case by the district attorney's office charges that the defendant in the late summer to early fall of 2012 at 1709A

⁵ State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis.2d 633, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990). Schultz's motion would have implicated the rape shield statute. Wis. Stat. § 972.11.

Water Street in the City of Merrill, Lincoln County, Wisconsin, did commit repeated sexual assaults involving the same child [M.T.], date of birth, May 3, 1997, where at least 3 of the assaults were violations of Section 948.02(1) or (2) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

(R.67:8-9 and R.69:75-78; Appx. 99-104).

In it opening statement the State told the jury that "during the summer of 2012, the defendant started hanging out at the [victim's] residence," and Schultz and M.T. began having a sexual relationship. (R.67:115-16; Appx. 87-88). At no point in it opening did the State indicate to the jury when it believed that relationship ended. (R.67:115-18; Appx. 87-90).

If the State had no intention of introducing evidence of sexual relations in the month of October, that message was not received by Schultz's trial counsel, for he stated in his opening that:

Although, Alex knew that [M.T.] had a crush on him; he didn't realize and did not expect, the bombshell that occurred sometime in October of 2012. He was advised by friends that [M.T.] was telling others that she was in a serious relationship with Alex and that it was sexual in nature.

As a result, there was an exchange of messages on Facebook between them. Alex told [M.T.] that those kinds of statements might get him into trouble. She denied making the statements but his contact with her ended shortly thereafter.

(R.67:123; Appx. 95). Defense counsel also recounted the December 4, 2012, interview with Officer Wade, in which M.T. indicated that she had sexual intercourse with Schultz approximately a month before her sexual encounter with Beckman. (R.67:123-24; Appx. 95-96). But then noted that:

Six weeks later a second interview was held at the police department between Officer Waid and [M.T.]. The interview was recorded and in that interview Mary expanded on her previous statement. As a result, Alex Schultz was charged with a crime, became a very serious crime when she expanded on her initial story and told about another five or more than five encounters with Alex Schultz.

During the various interviews, [M.T.] has given a variety of explanations about the circumstances of those encounters

(R.67:124; Appx. 96; See also R.93:5; Appx. 36).

M.T.'s testimony at trial as to when the incidents of sexual intercourse occurred was very imprecise. She testified that she began having sexual intercourse with Schultz in July of 2012. (R.67:130-31; Appx. 108-09). She stated that they broke up around the beginning of September of 2012. (R.67:134; Appx. 112). There was no testimony, however, as to whether they may have had sexual intercourse at any point after they broke up, as apparently they did. Other than the one instances of sexual intercourse in September, M.T. did not give a date, specific or otherwise, for any of the other alleged acts of sexual intercourse. (R.67:153; Appx. 131). She claimed that they had sexual intercourse more than five times, (R.67:134; Appx. 112), but could not specify how many times she had sexual intercourse with Schultz, much less identify three specific occasion on which she had sexual intercourse with Schultz. (R.67:153; Appx. 131). M.T. did not keep a diary, take notes, or send texts which would allow her to give a precise date for when any of the alleged sexual assaults occurred. (R.67:146; Appx. 124). She could not remember the dates on which she told the other witnesses about her sexual relations with Schultz. (R.67:153; Appx. 131). At no point in her testimony at trial does M.T. categorically state that she did not have sexual intercourse with Schultz in the month of October 2012. (R.67:127-63; Appx. 105-41).

Other witnesses were, if anything, even more imprecise concerning when M.T. told them she was having sexual intercourse with Schultz. The witness Jessica Nowak testified to receiving a text from M.T. admitting she was having sexual intercourse with Schultz, but could not specify the time period when she received this text more accurately than "summer/fallish of `12". (R.67:169-70). In response to the question "did you become aware in the late summer and early fall of 2012 that [M.T.] was developing a romantic relationship with the defendant Alexander Schultz?" the witness Lance Nowak stated that M.T. "told me they were dating." (R.67:173).

The instructions given to the jury did not limit the timeframe for the crime from that given in the Information. The timeframe given to the jury in the final jury instructions was:

Second element, at least three sexual assaults took place within a specified period of time. The specified period of time is from the late summer to early fall of 2012.

Before you may find the defendant guilty, you must unanimously agree that at least three sexual assaults occurred between late summer or early fall of 2012, but you need not agree on which acts constitute the required three.

(R.69:77 and R.75:7-9; Appx. 103 and 51-53). The jury returned a verdict of not guilty. (R.69:130 and R.74; Appx. 30). The jury's verdict did not limit the timeframe to a period prior to October of 2012, but rather gave its verdict in accordance with the allegations contained in the Information. *Id.* The jury's verdict was read as follows:

THE COURT: The Court will read the verdict. We, the jury, find the defendant, Alexander M. Schultz, not guilty of repeated acts of sexual assault of a child as charged in the information dated this 22nd day of January, 2014 signed by the foreperson.

Madam Foreperson, did I correctly read the verdict?

MADAM FOREPERSON: You did, sir.

(R.70:130 and R.74; Appx. 30). A judgment of acquittal on the charge was entered on January 23, 2014. (R.89; Appx. 29).

On January 27, 2014, five days after Schultz's acquittal in 13CF110, Officer Waid was informed by the Lincoln County Victim/Witness Coordinator, that she had received the paternity results showing that Alexander Schultz was the father of M.T.'s child. (R.10:3; Appx. 47). On January 28, 2014, the day after receiving this information, Officer Waid received an email from the assistant District Attorney, directing him to have M.T. sign a Release of Medical Information so that her obstetrician could be interviewed. (R.10:4; Appx. 48). By February 2, 2014, Officer Waid had obtained a signed release from M.T., and by February 15, 2014, he had obtained a report from M.T.'s obstetrician estimating the date of conception to be October 19, 2012. (R.10:4-5; Appx. 48-49). On March 11, 2014, forty-eight days after Schultz's acquittal in 13CF110, a new criminal complaint was filed in the circuit court of Lincoln County charging Schultz with: one count of perjury before the court, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.31(1)(a); one count of obstructing an officer, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1); and relevant to this appeal, one count of second-degree sexual assault of a child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2). (R.1 and R.10; Appx. 45-50). The new case was assigned the number 14CF68. *Id*.

The new complaint, as well as an amended complaint, alleged that "on or about October 19, 2012" Schultz had sexual intercourse with M.T, who was at that time a child under the age of sixteen. (R.1:1 and R.10:2; Appx. 46). The Information and an Amended Information would allege the same timeframe. (R.26:1 and R.30:1; Appx. 43). On May 5, 2014, Schultz filed a motion to dismiss the sexual assault count on the grounds that the prosecution of Schultz in this case violated his rights guaranteed by the Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. (R.5). Schultz's argument, distilled to its essence, was that October 19, 2012, fell within the "early fall" of 2012, and thus the new prosecution fell within the scope of jeopardy which had been alleged in the charging documents of case number 13CF110. *Id*.

Schultz filed a letter brief in support of his motion to dismiss. (R.19). Citing appropriate caselaw, Schultz argued that it is well established that the Double Jeopardy Clause "protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal." (R.19:3). He further argued that the State cannot "prosecute an offense whose elements are 'incorporated' into the elements of an offense already prosecuted." (R.19:3). He observed that the elements of the charge in 14CF68, second-degree sexual assault of a child, were indeed incorporated into the charge in 13CF110, repeated sexual assault of the same child. (R.19:5). Schultz also noted that the charges in 13CF110 and 14CF68 involved the same child, M.T. (R.19:1). And finally, he noted that the timeframe

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