#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-23-2018

## COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2017AP1977-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALEXANDER M. SCHULTZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN THE LINCOLN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROBERT R. RUSSELL, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. Schultz's right against double jeopardy was not violated when the State charged him with sexual assault in a second case.
- I.A. An acquittal protects a defendant from being subsequently charged with the same offense. To determine the scope of this double jeopardy bar, a court must decide what offense a defendant was acquitted of. In doing so, a court must consider the evidence at trial, not just the original charge. Wisconsin law provides that "[a]fter verdict the pleading shall be deemed amended to conform to the proof if no objection to the relevance of the evidence was timely raised upon the trial." Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2). This statute means that the evidence at trial can affect the charge and thus affect the double jeopardy bar against successive prosecutions.
- **I.B.** Applying those principles, the sexual-assault charge in Schultz's first case was factually distinct from the sexual-assault charge in his second case. In the first case, the State charged Schultz with sexually assaulting M.T. three or more times in the late summer to early fall of 2012. M.T. testified that she began having sex with Schultz in July or August of 2012 and broke up with him shortly afterward, in early September. There was no evidence at Schultz's trial that he had sex with M.T. in October. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2), the original charge is deemed amended to allege three or more sexual assaults against M.T. in July to September of 2012. Double jeopardy principles protect Schultz from being prosecuted again for that amended charge. In Schultz's second case, however, the State charged him with sexually assaulting M.T. on or about October 19, 2012. Because assaults in July to September are factually distinct from an assault in mid-October, the sexual-assault

charge in Schultz's second case did not violate his right against double jeopardy.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo whether a defendant's right against double jeopardy has been violated. *State v. Steinhardt*, 2017 WI 62, ¶ 11, 375 Wis. 2d 712, 896 N.W.2d 700. This Court upholds a circuit court's inferences from disputed facts unless they are clearly erroneous, even if they are based solely on a documentary record. *Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis.*, 2009 WI 74, ¶¶ 37–39 & nn.9–10, 319 Wis. 2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 615.

#### ARGUMENT

The second charge of sexual assault did not violate Schultz's right against double jeopardy.

A. The State may charge a defendant after he has been acquitted of a factually distinct offense.

"The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right to be free from double jeopardy." *Steinhardt*, 375 Wis. 2d 712, ¶ 13 (footnotes omitted). This right includes a "protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal" and "after conviction." *Id.* (citation omitted). This Fifth Amendment right applies to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *State v. Robinson*, 2014 WI 35, ¶ 21, 354 Wis. 2d 351, 847 N.W.2d 352.

For a defendant to show that a separate prosecution violated double jeopardy principles, "the offenses charged in the two prosecutions must be identical in the law and in fact." *State v. Van Meter*, 72 Wis. 2d 754, 758, 242 N.W.2d 206 (1976). Charges in two separate prosecutions are

identical in fact if the "facts alleged under either of the indictments would, if proved under the other, warrant a conviction under the latter." *Id.* (citation omitted). A second prosecution does not violate double jeopardy principles if the offenses in the two prosecutions are factually different, even if they are legally identical. *See id.* at 758–59. A greater offense and its lesser-included offense are legally identical. *State v. Stevens*, 123 Wis. 2d 303, 321–22, 367 N.W.2d 788, 797 (1985).<sup>3</sup>

"[A] guilty plea relinquishes the right to assert a [double jeopardy] claim when the claim cannot be resolved on the record." *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 2, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886. Because Schultz's double jeopardy claim challenges a charge to which he pled guilty, that claim is waived if the Court cannot resolve it on this record.

#### B. The evidence at trial affects the scope of the double jeopardy bar against a subsequent prosecution.

"The scope of the double jeopardy bar is determined by the conviction and the entire record supporting the conviction." *United States v. Castro*, 776 F.2d 1118, 1123 (3d Cir. 1985) (citation omitted). In other words, "[f]or purposes of barring a future prosecution, it is the judgment and not the indictment alone which acts as a bar, and the entire record may be considered in evaluating a subsequent claim of double jeopardy." *United States v. Hamilton*, 992 F.2d 1126, 1130 (10th Cir. 1993) (citation omitted).

The Supreme Court has similarly recognized that criminal defendants may rely on the entire record to protect

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As explained below in section I.E.1., the State concedes that second-degree sexual assault of a child is a lesser-included offense of repeated sexual assault of a child, although not for the same reason that Schultz reaches this conclusion.

themselves from being put in jeopardy a second time for the same offense. Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 764 (1962). Relying on Russell and other Supreme Court cases, the Seventh Circuit has explained that "[i]t is the record as a whole, therefore, which provides the subsequent protection from double jeopardy, rather than just the indictment." United States v. Roman, 728 F.2d 846, 854 (7th Cir. 1984).

Sanabria v. United States illustrates how to determine the scope of an acquittal. In Sanabria, the defendant was charged with running an illegal gambling business. Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54, 56 (1978). The evidence at trial showed that Sanabria had been engaged "in horse betting and numbers betting." Id. at 57. The trial court "struck all evidence of numbers betting" and granted Sanabria's motion for a judgment of acquittal. *Id.* at 59. The government appealed and "sought a new trial on the portion of the indictment relating to numbers betting," while conceding that double jeopardy principles would bar a new trial on the horse-betting theory of liability. Id. at 61. The Supreme Court concluded that the acquittal covered both theories of liability. Id. at 66-67. It reasoned that the trial court had "issued only two orders, one excluding certain evidence and the other entering a judgment of acquittal on the single count charged. No language in the indictment was ordered to be stricken, nor was the indictment amended." Id. at 66 (emphasis added) (citation omitted).

So, to determine whether an acquittal bars a subsequent charge on double jeopardy grounds, a court must determine the scope of the acquittal. In other words, it must determine precisely what offense the defendant was acquitted of. A court makes that determination by looking at the entire record. Under *Sanabria*, an amendment to a charge would affect the scope of an acquittal.

Wisconsin has a rule that "[t]he complaint will be treated as amended, even though no amendment has been requested, where the proof has been submitted and accepted." Goldman v. Bloom, 90 Wis. 2d 466, 480, 280 N.W.2d 170 (1979) (citation omitted). In other words, an appellate court will deem a complaint to be amended to conform to evidence that was not objected to. Martineau v. State Conservation Comm'n of Wis., 66 Wis. 2d 439, 445, 225 N.W.2d 613 (1975). An appellate court will do so when necessary to support the judgment appealed from. See, e.g., Wulfers v. E.W. Clark Motor Co., 177 Wis. 497, 500, 188 N.W. 652 (1922). A court will do so even in criminal cases. See, e.g., Moore v. State, 55 Wis. 2d 1, 8, 197 N.W.2d 820 (1972) (deeming the charge amended to conform to the proof at trial).

This longstanding amendment rule is codified in Wisconsin's criminal code. The relevant statute provides: "After verdict the pleading shall be deemed amended to conform to the proof if no objection to the relevance of the evidence was timely raised upon the trial." Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2). That statutory language "was intended to deal with technical variances in the complaint such as names and dates." State v. Duda, 60 Wis. 2d 431, 440, 210 N.W.2d 763 Technical defects (1973).in charge, a "ambiguities," "are cured by verdict." Id. at 441 (citation omitted). Objections to such defects in a charge, "if made after verdict, come too late." *Id.* (citation omitted).

A court therefore *must* deem a pleading to be amended after verdict pursuant to section 971.29(2). The plain language of the statute compels this conclusion. When a statute uses the word "shall," it is generally presumed to be mandatory. *State v. Sprosty*, 227 Wis. 2d 316, 324, 595 N.W.2d 692 (1999). That conclusion is bolstered when a particular statutory section uses the words "may" and "shall," "indicating the legislature was aware of the distinct meanings of the words." *Id.* (citation omitted). Section 971.29(2) uses both of those words. It has two sentences, the

first of which reads, "At the trial, the court may allow amendment of the complaint, indictment or information to conform to the proof where such amendment is not prejudicial to the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2) (emphasis added). The first sentence gives a circuit court discretion to allow amendment to a charge during trial. See State v. Malcom, 2001 WI App 291, ¶ 23, 249 Wis. 2d 403, 638 N.W.2d 918. The second sentence states that "the pleading shall be deemed amended to conform to the proof" after verdict "if no objection to the relevance of the evidence was timely raised upon the trial." Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2) added). This plain language shows (emphasis amendment is mandatory after, but not before, the verdict if there was no objection to the evidence at issue.

Further, "[s]tatutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Ct. for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (citations omitted). The State's view avoids rendering the second sentence in section 971.29(2) surplusage in light of the first.

A charge may even be amended after an acquittal to allow a conviction on a different charge. In La Fond v. State, 37 Wis. 2d 137, 140, 154 N.W.2d 304 (1967), the circuit court acquitted the defendant of a charge of sexual assault of a child, sua sponte amended the charge to contributing to the delinquency of a minor, and then convicted the defendant of the amended charge. The supreme court concluded that the circuit court had properly amended the charge to conform to the proof pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 957.16(1). Id. at 143–44. Section 957.16(1) was the predecessor of current section 971.29(2). Duda, 60 Wis. 2d at 439.

In short, section 971.29(2) affects the scope of a conviction or an acquittal because it deems a charge to be amended to conform to the evidence after verdict. This view

is consistent with the federal case law noted above, which holds that the double jeopardy bar against a subsequent charge hinges on the evidence at trial. When determining the scope of the double jeopardy bar, a court must not rely on the charging document as it read when the trial started. Instead, a court must deem the charge to be amended to conform to the evidence after verdict pursuant to section 971.29(2). The court must then consider whether the conviction or acquittal on the *amended* charge bars a subsequent prosecution.

# C. Schultz incorrectly urges this Court to ignore the evidence at his trial when determining the scope of the double jeopardy bar.

Schultz argues that a court determines the scope of the double jeopardy bar against successive prosecutions by looking at the charging document when jeopardy attached, not by looking at evidence that was later introduced at trial. (Schultz's Br. 16–18.) He relies heavily on *United States v. Olmeda*, 461 F.3d 271 (2d Cir. 2006), to support that view. (Schultz's Br. 1, 4, 13, 16.) The court in *Olmeda* stated that "[t]o determine whether two offenses charged in successive prosecutions are the same in fact, a court must ascertain whether a reasonable person familiar with the totality of the facts and circumstances would construe the initial indictment, at the time jeopardy attached in the first case, to cover the offense that is charged in the subsequent prosecution." *Olmeda*, 461 F.3d at 282. This Court should decline to follow *Olmeda* for three reasons.

First, Schultz initially relied on *Olmeda* in his postconviction motion, which the circuit court treated as a motion for reconsideration of the order denying dismissal. (*See* R. 55:4, 5–6; 60.) "To prevail on a motion for reconsideration, a party must either present newly discovered evidence or establish a manifest error of law or

fact." State v. White, 2008 WI App 96, ¶ 8, 312 Wis. 2d 799, 754 N.W.2d 214 (citation omitted). "A manifest error of law occurs when the circuit court disregards, misapplies, or fails to recognize controlling precedent." Id. (emphasis added) (citation omitted). Decisions by federal circuit courts are not binding on state courts. State v. Mechtel, 176 Wis. 2d 87, 94, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993). Thus, Schultz's reliance on Olmeda does not satisfy the manifest-error standard. Because Olmeda is not binding on Wisconsin state courts, the circuit court did not overlook controlling precedent when it denied Schultz's motion to dismiss the sexual-assault charge in the second prosecution.

Second, *Olmeda* wrongly focuses on the "initial indictment, at the time jeopardy attached in the first case." *Olmeda*, 461 F.3d at 282. "[J]eopardy attaches when the jury is empaneled and sworn." *Martinez v. Illinois*, 134 S. Ct. 2070, 2074 (2014) (per curiam) (citations omitted). "[T]he conclusion that jeopardy has attached,' however, 'begins, rather than ends, the inquiry as to whether the Double Jeopardy Clause bars retrial." *Id.* at 2075 (alteration in original) (citation omitted). "The remaining question is whether the jeopardy ended in such a manner that the defendant may not be retried." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[A] verdict of acquittal . . . is a bar to a subsequent prosecution for the same offence." *Serfass v. United States*, 420 U.S. 377, 392 (1975) (second alteration in original) (citations omitted).

As explained above, the double jeopardy bar hinges on the judgment of conviction or acquittal and the entire record supporting it. The reason why is that the judgment, not the charge or the attachment of jeopardy, creates the double jeopardy bar. A court should thus rely on the entire record to determine what the *judgment* meant, not to determine what the *charging document* meant when jeopardy attached.<sup>4</sup>

Third, the *Olmeda* court gave short shrift to the notion that an amendment to a charge could affect a double jeopardy analysis. It stated in a footnote that "[t]o the extent the government suggests that the lack of any mention of [a particular accusation during plea proceedings implicitly narrowed or constructively amended the indictment, we are not persuaded." Olmeda, 461 F.3d at 287 n.15. The court noted the well-established rule that a charge may be constructively narrowed but not broadened. Id. Yet it stated—without any analysis or citation to authority—that "where the government constructively narrows indictment after jeopardy attaches only to refile the dropped charge at a later date, a variation on the problem of increased exposure arises implicating due process if not double jeopardy concerns." Id.

The Olmeda court's concerns are misplaced. To be sure, a variance between a charge and the proof at trial can double create due process and jeopardy Specifically, a variance can create risks that the defendant was not put on notice of the charge and might be subjected to double jeopardy in a later prosecution. See, e.g., United States v. Tello, 687 F.3d 785, 796 (7th Cir. 2012); United States v. Smith, 789 F.2d 196, 200 (3d Cir. 1986). But "[i]f it is clear from the record that the accused was not misled by the evidence presented and could not be retried for the same events, the 'notice' and 'double jeopardy' concerns underlying the variance between the charge and the evidence will have been satisfied." Wooley v. United States, 697 A.2d 777, 779 (D.C. 1997) (citations omitted). When the proof at trial narrows the charge, the defendant was given adequate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As explained later, contrary to Schultz's suggestion, *Olmeda* does not prohibit a court from considering the evidence at trial.

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